STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Mar 05 2021

ON WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Edward W. Miller, Plea Judge
The Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2020-001361

OSHAUN ROBINSON,

RESPONDENT,

v.

THE STATE

PETITIONER.

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

LILLIAN L. MEADOWS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103665

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED ON CERTIORARI

Where Robinson was convicted by a jury of one set of charges several months prior to pleading guilty to a second set of charges, the PCR court erred as a matter of law by conflating the deficiency and prejudice prongs of *Strickland*, ignoring the required presumption of competence, and relying entirely on hindsight to find counsel constitutionally ineffective for failing to advise Robinson prior to pleading guilty that a concurrent sentence on the plea convictions did not mean his trial convictions—which were pending on appeal at the time—were “merged” such that if his trial convictions were eventually overturned on direct appeal or collateral review, the plea convictions would not be simultaneously overturned where counsel never indicated or otherwise suggested to Robinson that an appeal on convictions from the jury trial would somehow also apply to a guilty plea that he engaged in months later and where the voluntariness of the plea did not depend on whether Robinson understood what *might happen* in the future if he were successful in a *different case* because Robinson pleaded guilty based on the twenty-five year sentence and avoiding LWOP.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from two distinct sets of charges; the first set was resolved initially by a jury trial in January 2009 jury trial and the second set was resolved by guilty plea in March 2009 guilty plea. The second set gives rise to the instant appeal.

A. Trial Charges

In August 2008, the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Robinson for armed robbery (2008-GS-23-5382) possession of a weapon during commission of a violent crime (2008-GS-23-5382), conspiracy (2008-GS-23-5383), and assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN) (2008-GS-23-5384) (**trial charges**). The trial charges arose out of a December 10, 2007 incident where Robinson and co-defendants approached the victim’s Jeep, pointed a firearm at him, and demanded his money and phone. The victim complied after Robinson punched him in the face.

On January 14–15, 2009,¹ Robinson and his co-defendant, Kenneth Workman, proceeded to a joint trial before the Honorable C. Victor Pyle, Jr. Andrew Burke Moorman (defense counsel)

¹ Robinson and Workman initially proceeded to trial on December 1–2, 2008, which resulted in a mistrial with a hung jury. (App. 1–168).

represented Robinson. The jury convicted both Robinson and Workman of the lesser-included offense of assault and battery and as indicted on the remaining offenses. Judge Pyle sentenced Robinson to concurrent terms of twenty-five years for armed robbery, five years for conspiracy, five years for possession of a weapon during commission of a violent crime, and thirty days for assault and battery.

Robinson file a timely notice of appeal of his trial convictions and sentences. Appellate Defender Robert Pachak represented Robinson on appeal. Following briefing and oral argument, the Court of Appeals affirmed Robinson's convictions and sentences in an unpublished *per curiam* opinion. *State v. Robinson*, Op. No. 12-UP-042 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Jan. 25, 2012). The case was remitted back to the circuit court on February 14, 2012.

On December 5, 2012, Robinson timely commenced a post-conviction relief action challenging his trial convictions. The State requested an evidentiary hearing through its return on June 21, 2013. On February 18, 2014, the PCR court convened an evidentiary hearing before the Honorable G. Edward Welmaker. Robinson and defense counsel both testified at the hearing. On March 25, 2014, Judge Welmaker issued an order denying the application on all grounds and dismissing with prejudice. Robinson appealed.

Appellate Defender Wanda H. Carter represented Robinson on his PCR appeal. On April 15, 2015, this Court reversed the denial of relief and remanded the case for a new trial, finding the *Allen* charge given by the trial judge unconstitutionally coercive. *Robinson v. State*, Op. No. 2015-MO-018 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed April 15, 2015). The case was remitted back to the lower court on April 27, 2015.

On remand, Robinson pleaded guilty to the trial charges before the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin on May 16, 2016. No negotiations or recommendations were made as to sentencing. Judge Verdin sentenced Robinson to concurrent terms of fifteen years' imprisonment for armed robbery, five years for criminal conspiracy, five years for the weapons charge, and thirty days for simple assault.

B. Plea Charges

In August 2008, the Greenville County Grand Jury also indicted Robinson for criminal conspiracy (2008-GS-23-5385), assault and battery with intent to kill (2008-GS-23-5386), armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2008-GS-23-5387); all of which arose out of a December 10, 2007 incident (**plea charges**). The plea charges arose out of a December 14, 2007 incident where Robinson and two co-defendants robbed the victim and shot him in the abdomen with a .38 caliber handgun before stealing his money, wallet, and watch.

While his direct appeal was pending on the trial charges, Robinson pleaded guilty as indicted before the Honorable Edward W. Miller on March 4, 2009. No negotiations or recommendations were made as to sentencing. Robinson was again represented by Moorman. Judge Miller accepted Robinson's plea and sentenced him to concurrent terms of twenty-five years for armed robbery, twenty years for assault and battery with intent to kill (ABWIK), five years for criminal conspiracy, and five years for possession of a weapon during commission of a violent crime. Judge Miller further ordered the new sentences run concurrent to the jury trial sentences. Robinson did not appeal.

Robinson commenced the underlying post-conviction relief action on April 25, 2017, challenging his March 2009 guilty plea.² The State made its return and motion to dismiss on November 2, 2018, requesting the application be summarily dismissed as time-barred. Pursuant to this request, the Honorable Perry H. Gravely, acting in his capacity as Chief Administrative Judge, issued a conditional order of dismissal on November 9, 2018, provisionally denying and dismissing the application as untimely pursuant to subsection 17-27-45(a) of the South Carolina Code (2014), but allowing Robinson twenty days to respond to the conditional order. Robinson, through PCR counsel,

² Because Robinson failed to pursue any type of challenge whatsoever or otherwise attempt to preserve the record by ordering the transcript, the transcript of the March 4, 2009 guilty plea is unavailable because this action was commenced eight years after the plea took place. *See* Rule 607(i), SCACR.

timely responded to the conditional order of dismissal. On December 27, 2018, Judge Gravely issued a Form 4 ordering the matter to be set for a hearing.

A hearing on the State's motion to dismiss convened before the Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Jr., on April 15 and 17, 2019. Robinson was present and represented by Tara Dawn Shurling, Robinson and defense counsel both testified. Judge Kinlaw subsequently took the matter under advisement and requested proposed orders from both parties. On April 22, 2019, Judge Kinlaw issued an order vacating the conditional order of dismissal and granting leave to proceed with a full evidentiary hearing.

On January 22, 2020, an evidentiary hearing convened before the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II. Robinson was present and again represented by Tara Dawn Shurling, Esquire. Robinson and defense counsel both testified again. Judge Hayes took the matter under advisement and requested proposed orders from both parties. On May 19, 2020, Judge Hayes issued an order granting post-conviction relief. In response, on June 3, 2020, the State filed a motion to alter, amend, and reconsider pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC. Robinson filed a response and a supplemental response. (App. 917–922; 923–25). On July 28, 2020, Judge Hayes issued a Form 4 denying the State's motion. (App. 926–29). He subsequently issued a formal order on September 9, 2020. (App. 930). This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In PCR matters, the standard of review depends on the specific issue involved. *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). Appellate courts will uphold a PCR court's findings of fact if there is any probative evidence in the record to support them. *Sellner v. State*, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016). However, appellate courts give no deference to the PCR court's conclusions of law and reviews those conclusions de novo. *Jamison v. State*, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014).

ARGUMENT

Where Robinson was convicted by a jury of one set of charges several months prior to pleading guilty to a second set of charges, the PCR court erred as a matter of law by conflating the deficiency and prejudice prongs of *Strickland*, ignoring the required presumption of competence, and relying entirely on hindsight to find counsel constitutionally ineffective for failing to advise Robinson prior to pleading guilty that a concurrent sentence on the plea convictions did not mean his trial convictions—which were pending on appeal at the time—were “merged” such that if his trial convictions were eventually overturned on direct appeal or collateral review, the plea convictions would not be simultaneously overturned where counsel never indicated or otherwise suggested to Robinson that an appeal on convictions from the jury trial would somehow also apply to a guilty plea that he engaged in months later and where the voluntariness of the plea did not depend on whether Robinson understood what *might happen* in the future if he were successful in a *different case* because Robinson pleaded guilty based on the twenty-five year sentence and avoiding LWOP.

In its order based entirely on hindsight and Robinson’s self-serving testimony, the PCR court misapplied both prongs of *Strickland* by finding defense counsel constitutionally ineffective for leading Robinson to believe that the twenty-five year plea he entered into months after being convicted at trial meant “his guilty pleas would never result in him getting more time for them than he received for the charges he had been found guilty of at his jury trial.” Although counsel never mentioned anything to Robinson about any sort of connection or relationship between these two entirely separate convictions aside from the twenty-five year concurrent sentence, the PCR court ignored the *Strickland* presumption of competence by finding counsel’s deficient performance inexplicably created Robinson’s bizarre misunderstanding that “the two sets of charges, and the sentences he received, were effectively *merged*” by his guilty pleas such that “any changes to the judgments and sentences imposed at his jury trial would have the same impact upon the [plea] judgments and concurrent sentences.”

Conveniently, Robinson realized the two sets of charges were not “merged” at approximately the same time he received a fifteen-year plea offer on remand of the trial charges. Because he is currently serving fifteen years on the trial charges while the twenty-five year sentence on the plea charges still stands, he now complains his 2009 plea was involuntary because he ultimately received a

sweeter deal in 2016 on the trial charges. Instead of considering the circumstances Robinson was facing at the time of the plea—a life sentence—the PCR court relied entirely on *post hoc* assertions from Robinson that he would not have taken the plea offer while ignoring the fact that Robinson never testified or otherwise indicated he would have risked LWOP and gone to trial on these charges.

The PCR court finding credible Robinson’s “express understanding” that pleading guilty to offenses such as armed robbery and ABWIK “would never impact his criminal record” and “stood no chance of hurting him in any way,” is almost as absurd as its baseless accusation that the State forged the magistrate’s signature and maliciously altered arrest warrants. Further, the nonsensical phrase used by the PCR court—that Robinson believed his “guilty pleas would never result in him serving more time than he would have to serve on the charges from his jury trial”—demonstrates the mental gymnastics required to conclude that Robinson’s March 2009 plea was involuntary—not because he received a harsher sentence on the plea charges—but because he ultimately received a more favorable sentence on the trial charges seven years later. This Court should grant certiorari, reverse the post-conviction order granting relief, and reinstate Robinson’s convictions and sentences.

Post-Conviction Relief Testimony

At the outset of the hearing April 2019 hearing before Judge Kinlaw, PCR counsel clarified Robinson’s allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel regarding the plea charges:

It is the Applicant’s position that at the time he was receiving advice from his trial attorney on that subject, he was told that he was being afforded an opportunity for those crimes to be run together with the crimes from the jury trial. That they would all be treated as the same in terms of the start date for sentence. And that the time would be concurrent. And that in his mind, based on the advice of Counsel, he was -- he believed that they had effectively been merged in terms of that and from there forward, they were being treated as -- as one set of judgments and sentences effectively entered on the same date and merged for all intent and purposes.

(App. 617–18). Robinson testified he was convicted of the trial charges in January 2009, and that he received an aggregate twenty-five year sentence. (App. 624). Regarding the plea charges, Robinson

testified his attorney told him in February about a plea offer where he would receive a twenty-five year sentence that would run concurrent to the sentence he received at trial. (App. 624). Robinson ultimately accepted this offer. Robinson testified he pleaded guilty because he already had a twenty-five year sentence from the jury conviction, and if he did not plead guilty to these charges, the State was going to seek LWOP. (App. 625). Robinson testified he took the twenty-five year offer because it “ran in with the [twenty-five] years [he] was already serving.” (App. 625).

Robinson explained that he understood concurrent meant that his sentences from the two sets of charges would be run together. (App. 625). When asked if the term “concurrent” was used with regard to sentencing, Robinson responded, “Just the sentencing. That’s all I’m - -.” (App. 625). He was then interrupted by PCR counsel, who asked what else “they” talked about. (App. 625–27). He then clarified that his “whole reason for pleading” was based on his understanding that, as a result of the plea, he would never have to worry about receiving more time for those charges than he had already received on the trial charges. (App. 626). Robinson then testified that “serving twenty-five years was the purpose of me pleading” (App. 637), but later testified he “would have never pled” had he known the charges were not “legally merged.” (App. 664). Robinson then testified he did not recall whether plea counsel discussed this with him before the plea hearing in March 2009. (App. 664). Finally, Robinson testified that “nothing in the legal advice given to [him] by [his] attorney led [him] to understand that the only thing overlapping about these cases was the sentences.” (App. 664).

Counsel testified, “[T]he goal for the guilty plea on current time, the sentences, was to reduce his exposure and eliminate to the largest extent possible the possibility that he’d be sentenced to life without parole.” (App. 668–70). Because counsel no longer had his file and the plea occurred over ten years prior to the April hearing, counsel testified he did not recall the exact conversation he had with Robinson about the concurrent sentences. (App. 668–69). The following exchange took place during

PCR counsel's direct examination:

SHURLING: So, basically, to be fair, you have no independent recollection of ever having a discussion with him about the fact that the charges being -- the sentences being concurrent only referenced the penalty -- the sentences themselves, and did not in any other respect merge the cases?

MOORMN: Could you ask that question one more time?

SHURLING: Do you here today -- and I realize you don't have your file. But do you have any independent recollection of ever explaining to him that the concurrency of the two sentences dealt only with the two sentences overlapping and in no regard indicated that the matters had been otherwise merged for any other legal purposes?

MOORMAN: I'm just trying to understand the question. So --

SHURLING: Let me rephrase it --

MOORMAN: Yeah.

SHURLING: -- if it's that poorly articulated. I'll say it fast. Did you ever talk about the fact that, look, this means this 25 and that 25 are going to be served at the exact same time, they're overlapping each other? You told him that?

MOORMAN: I believe I did.

SHURLING: And do -- you do not deny, do you, telling him what he testified to Monday, that you, basically, told him that these new pleas were not going to result in him serving any more time than he would have otherwise served on the jury trial?

MOORMAN: I don't independently remember saying that, but I would have. Because that was the -- the recommendation on the pleas was for the same time that the sentence was for that he received at the jury trial, so.

SHURLING: Thank you.

MOORMAN: Yeah.

SHURLING: But to be fair to Mr. Robinson, you don't have any recollection of telling him that for any other purpose, if he wanted to appeal the jury trial, if he was doing a PCR, whatever, that they still were independent cases and had to be treated independently as far as anything he might file in the future?

ROBINSON: I can't remember telling him that -- I can't remember telling him that. I just don't have any independent recollection.

(App. 670–71).

At the January 2020 evidentiary hearing before Judge Hayes, Robinson agreed with PCR counsel that at least part of his motivation in taking the plea deal was to avoid potential exposure to

LWOP. (App. 816). He was aware at the time he receive the plea offer that the State was planning on serving him with a notice of intent to seek LWOP if he did not plead guilty. (App. 820–21). He testified again that his “whole purpose of pleading” was because he thought “it was all merged together.” (App. 822). He then clarified that his “whole purpose of pleading” to the plea charges was because he already had twenty-five years, he “was expecting it to [run] together,” and that he did not expect “to be doing time for different charges.” (App. 822). Robinson further testified there would have been any purpose in taking the deal had he known the two sets of charges were not merged. (App. 824). Robinson testified it was his understanding “that if anything had happened to those judgments and sentences from [his] jury trial that was beneficial to [him] would also apply to the judgment [and sentences for the rest of the charges.” (App. 825).

Robinson then testified on re-cross that he pleaded guilty both to avoid LWOP and because he thought his guilty pleas and trial convictions were merged. (App. 830–31). He again testified he pled based on serving twenty-five years but that he “did not expect it to not be merged together on down the line.” (App. 831). He stated he believed the two cases were “permanently merged” and “that what affected one would affect the other.” (App. 831–32).

Moorman also testified. He was asked specifically whether he told Robinson that his guilty plea charges and sentences were merged. (App. 835). The following exchange ensued:

KEY: Okay. Did you tell Mr. Robinson that everything was merged?
MOORMAN: So ---
SHURLING: Your Honor, I’m sorry. I’m reluctant to ever interrupt, but I would somewhat object. Well, not somewhat, I would object. We’ve agreed not to replot that field and to rely on the April 2019 transcript. And it appears that Respondent is now endeavoring to go back through questioning on the underlying issues that we agreed to rely on the transcript from the former proceeding for.³

³ Prior to the January 2020 hearing, the parties apparently agreed to submit and incorporate the April 2019 transcript. It is unclear based on the record the exact terms of this agreement. However, although she elicited further testimony from Robinson, PCR counsel attempted to prevent the State from questioning counsel at the January 2020 hearing.

KEY: Your Honor, there was testimony during Mr. Robinson -- or Mr. Robinson testified that he thought the charges and sentences were merged. All I'm trying to do is defend that allegation by asking these questions of his attorney.

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