IN THE SUPREME COURT OF SOUTH CAROLINA
APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

RECEIVED

Sep 20 2021

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable **J. Mark Hayes, II**,
Presiding Circuit Judge, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

Appellate Case No. 2020-001361

Oshaun J. Robinson, #327798

Respondent,

v.

State of South Carolina, Petitioner,

Petitioner

RETURN TO
PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

TARA DAWN SHURLING

Attorney at Law
S.C. Bar No. 5099

Law Office of Tara Dawn Shurling, P.A.

3614 Landmark Drive
Suite A

Columbia, S.C. 29204

tdslaw@shurlinglaw.com

(803) 738-8622 Office Phone

(803) 446-3614 Business Cell

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

DISCUSSION

Respondent submits that Defense Counsel neglected to discuss the potential consequences of these guilty pleas with him and that he specifically failed to address how the possible outcome of a direct appeal, and/ or Post-Conviction Relief, case arising from his judgments and sentences from his jury trial, might impact the judgments and sentences entered as a result of his guilty pleas. Specifically, where Respondent was advised that his pleas of guilty on March 4, 2009, would not result in him serving any more time than he had previously received as a consequence of his convictions at his jury trial. He further asserted that Plea Counsel never advised him that the State had not obtained indictments of the other charges they were proposing to dismiss as a term of his guilty plea agreement. While it was possible that the State might have sought indictments on some of the charges in question at a later date, there was no guarantee that the prosecution would succeed in obtaining a true billed indictment on any of these charges. That factor clearly potentially impacted the number of shots the prosecution

would have had at obtaining a life without parole sentence against Respondent had he refused to enter the pleas entered on March 4, 2009 pursuant to an agreement with the State. Respondent argues that, as a consequence of Counsel's inadequate advice concerning the relationship between these two sets of judgments and sentences, he was left with the understanding that the two sets of charges, and the sentences he received, were effectively *merged* by his entry of pleas pursuant to the terms of his negotiated plea deal with the State. Petitioner relies heavily on the fact that Plea Counsel testified that he was certain that he did not use the term "merged" in his conversations with this client about a decision on concerning entering these pleas. In truth, Respondent himself did not initially use the term "merged" to describe his understanding of the consequences of entering the pleas in question. He testified in terms of understanding that the set of charges sentences from his trial and from his pleas would be run together. He expressly stated that he never understood that if he chose to appeal the judgments and sentences from the jury trial, he would have to appeal those arising from his guilty pleas separately through a PCR action in order to try to avoid his twenty-five year sentence attached to his guilty pleas remaining in place and eliminating any possible gain obtained following a successful appeal from the judgments and sentences entered following his conviction at his previous trial. **App. p. 624, line 14 – p. 627, line 1; App. p. 665, line 1 – p. 667, line 3.**

Respondent's testimony during the hearings held in this matter¹ clearly asserted that it was his understanding that any changes to the judgments and sentences imposed at his jury trial would have the same impact upon the judgments and concurrent sentences entered on the charges addressed in the PCR application currently before this Honorable Court. Respondent's testimony asserts that it was his express understanding that his pleas on these charges would not result in a longer term of incarceration that that he received on the charges he originally went to

¹ Judge Kinlaw; April 15 and 17, 2019 (App.p.612, line 2 – p. 643, line 22) (April 15, 2019, Direct Examination) and Judge Hayes; January 22, 2020. App. p. 659, line 6 – p. 667, line 6. (April 17, 2019; Cross-examination and Re-direct Examination).

trial on. **App. p. 624, line 14 – p. 626, line 18.** Respondent’s testimony clearly submitted that he was not worried about being convicted on the charges he was being advised to plead to, or those which the State had offered to dismiss as a consequence of his guilty pleas, because it was obvious to him that law enforcement was just trying to “*clear their books*” on those charges and had no evidence that he was guilty of the charges to which he had pleaded or the charges that were dropped as part of his plea deal. **App. p. 632, lines 10 – 21.** It was his position, however, that he pleaded guilty to these charges because he was assured that his pleas would never result in him getting more time for them than he received for the charges he had been found guilty of at his jury trial and it would eliminate the potential risk that the State might succeed in getting a life without parole sentence against him at some time in the future. **App. p. 625, line 13 – p. 626, line 18.**

Respondent testified that Plea Counsel never explained to him that the *only* sense in which the judgments and sentences he received as a result of his March 4, 2009, guilty pleas would be connected to the judgments and sentences he received at his earlier jury trial was the fact that his sentences from the pleas would be ordered to be served concurrent to the sentences from his jury trial. While he acknowledged that the fact that the sentences were ordered to be concurrent on applied to the sentences, he steadfastly asserted he was never advised that the two sets of charges would remain separate legally and that if he appealed the judgments and sentences from the jury he would need to appeal the judgments and sentences from the pleas separately if he desired to challenge them as well. Respondent testified that he never would have taken the plea deal if he had understood that fact. He further indicated that if he had understood that fact after his pleas were entered he would have separately attacked the judgments and sentences arising from those pleas. Respondent clearly stated that if he had known he would have to file a separate Post-Conviction Relief action to challenge the judgments and sentences from the guilty pleas he would have done so, but that he never understood that the

judgments and sentences from the guilty plea were legally separate and not impacted by the reversal of the judgments and sentences from his jury trial until just days before his pleas on the charges that were originally the disposed of through the jury trial. **App. p. 628, lines 3 – 17; App. p. 642, line 24 – p. 643, line 5.** At that point, Respondent discovered it was too late to file a PCR action pursuant to §17-27-45(A). Respondent then hired Counsel and filed a second PCR action pursuant to §17-27-45 (C). **App. p. 627, line 15 – p. 628, line 2.**

The testimony taken at the hearings on this application reflect Respondent's belief that all the charges disposed of at his jury trial, and those to which he pleaded, were effectively merged. He testified that at the time of the opinion in his PCR Appeal from his jury trial, he did not understand that the reversal of the judgments and sentences from his jury trial did not similarly impact the judgments and sentences from his guilty plea as well. According to his PCR testimony, Respondent did not become aware that his judgments and sentences from his guilty plea proceeding were not simultaneously reversed by the decision from the Supreme Court on his PCR appeal until the final stages of his plea negotiations on the charges which were remanded to the Court of General Sessions as a result of that appeal. Respondent testified that within a few days after this discovery, on May 16, 2016, he entered pleas on the charges which had originally been disposed of at the jury trial addressed in his PCR appeal.

Following these new pleas, Respondent began the task of raising the funds necessary to hire a lawyer in an attempt to secure a collateral review of his guilty pleas addressed in his current PCR Application. On April 25, 2017, less than 365 days after he discovered that his judgments and sentences on these charges had not been overturned along with those arising from his jury trial, Respondent filed his current Application for Post-Conviction Relief. Based upon that chronology, he submitted that this application was timely filed pursuant to S.C.Code Ann §17-27-45(C). **App. p. 665, line 1 – p. 666, line 1.** By previous Order, Judge Kinlaw found this

filing to be timely. Petitioner did not appeal that order and therefore, the timeliness of the filing of this PCR action is not before this Court on appeal. **App. p. 823.**

Respondent was granted the right to proceed on the merits of his PCR Application by Order of the Honorable Alex Kinlaw, filed August 22, 2019. Judge Kinlaw found that the hearing held on April 15 and 17, 2019, was for the purpose of determining whether Respondent should be allowed to move forward with his current PCR Application and be granted an evidentiary hearing on the merits of his underlying claims. Judge Kinlaw then found that Respondent should be granted leave to proceed with this collateral action. In so ruling the Court took into account the Respondent's own PCR testimony, the testimony of his defense counsel, Andrew Burke Moorman, Esquire, the exhibits introduced by Respondent and the arguments advanced by his PCR Counsel, Tara Dawn Shurling. **App. p. 823.**

Judge Kinlaw noted in his Order that Defense Counsel recalled in his PCR testimony, advising Respondent of what the term concurrent meant and the fact that the concurrent sentences he would receive, if he accepted the plea deal being offered, would not result in him serving a longer sentence than that which he had already received at his jury trial. **App. p. 820.** As argued by Respondent, the Court noted that this same Defense Attorney represented Respondent at that jury trial and therefore, would have been very familiar with that case and the sentences imposed at its conclusion. **App. p. 668, lines 6 – 9.**

In the testimony had in this PCR action, Defense Counsel admitted that he had no recollection of ever advising Respondent of the consequences that would follow if his judgments and sentences from the jury trial were to be overturned on direct appeal, or in a PCR action, at a later date. **App. p. 671, line 5 – p. 672, line 5; App. p. line 24 – p. 856, line 17.** Defense Counsel acknowledged that he did not admonish his client concerning the fact that the two cases were only concurrent as to sentence. He admitted that he *did not qualify* his advice that the entry of the pleas would not result in him receiving any more time for these pleas than he got for the jury trial charges.

App. p. 856, line 18 – p. 859, line 8. Judge Kinlaw found that, on those facts, it was not difficult to see how a defendant might reach the same understanding that Respondent expressed to the Court. **App. p. 821.** Judge Kinlaw’s Order assigned no fault to Respondent for failing to find out the reality of what impact a reversal of the judgments and sentences he received at his jury trial would have on the judgments and sentences received pursuant to his subsequent guilty pleas. As far as his SCDC records would have revealed, the sentences on both sets of charges were in fact the same and they were run concurrent. Therefore, Respondent had no notice of what the result of a reversal on the jury trial judgments and sentences might ultimately be. Judge Kinlaw found that, based on his attorney’s advice, Respondent had no way of knowing that he might in fact ultimately end up getting more time on the guilty plea charges than he received on the charges originally disposed of by jury trial. Judge Kinlaw found Respondent’s testimony credible on this point particularly in light of Defense Counsel’s own testimony. As for the timeliness of this current application, Judge Kinlaw’s Order found that Respondent had no reason to question the soundness Defense Counsel’s advice until he learned, during the plea negotiation process when the jury trial charges were remanded for a new trial, that whatever sentence he received on remand of those charges would not change the sentence he received on the charges currently before the Court.² **App. p. 821.**

In addition to the findings made by Judge Kinlaw, this Court is constrained to note several additional facts which persuade this Court of the credibility of Respondent’s testimony and the merit of his PCR claims. Respondent was represented at trial by the same lawyer that represented him at the pleas now before this Court for review. The public Records of the South Carolina Court of Appeals show that the Notice of Appeal on those charges was filed by Respondent’s lawyer at both his trial and his guilty pleas, Andrew Moorman, on January 23, 2009. Thus, at the time Respondent was advised by Counsel that his pleas would not result in him getting more time on the

² The original return closed this paragraph with the sentence, “This Court agrees.” This sentence came from the Proposed Order drafted for the Court by Respondent’s PCR Counsel and was obviously inadvertently included in the Return as originally filed. That sentence has been stricken in this version of the Return.

charges he was pleading to than he received for the charges he had gone to trial on, he knew there was going to be a direct appeal. Although that direct appeal did not result in the reversal of the judgments and sentence entered at Respondent's trial, it could have and Counsel did not explain how such a reversal might impact Appellant's ultimate aggregate sentence. Furthermore, as a criminal defense lawyer, it is reasonable to infer that he would have know that even if the direct appeal were not successful, Respondent would have a right to a PCR action which might also impact his ultimate aggregate sentence on these two sets of charges.

Judge Hayes found that the degree to which Respondent could reasonably have believed that these two sets of charges were "*merged*", as opposed to simply having concurrent sentences, was further supported by other facts in this case. The twenty-three (23) charges that were dismissed following these pleas were all made brought by way of arrest warrants with supporting made by **Officer C.W. Hanning** of the Greenville County Sherriff's Office. Each of the warrants that were dismissed on March 9, 2009, purport to be signed off on by **Magistrate Judge James E. Hudson**, Judges Code No. 5031. All but *three* of these warrants were dated as signed on December 27, 2007. All twenty-three dismissed charges were *not prossed* on March 9, 2009. All of Respondent's charges from his trial, his guilty pleas and the warrants that were dismissed following his pleas, were served on him on December 28, 2007. A single warrant on one of the charges that went to trial was dated December 27, 2009, and three that were dismissed, were likewise dated December 27, 2009. The signatures on those three arrest warrants are not even similar to the signatures on the other twenty charges that were dismissed. Furthermore, the PCR Court observed that one of the arrest warrants on a charge to which Respondent pleaded on March 4, 2009, originally showed an offense date of December 18, 2007. The portion of that warrant signed by Magistrate Hudson was likewise originally dated December 18, 2007. Both those dates were changed to December 14, 2007 by hand. The Affidavit portion of that Warrant, again signed by Officer C. W. Hanning, remained dated December 18, 2007. *See, Warrant No. I-474445*. The changes on these dates are not

initialed or dated. On two other of the charges Respondent pleaded to on that date, the offense date was obviously originally December 18, 2007 and the date of the affidavit was also December 18, 2007. Both those dates were changed to December 14, 2007, by hand. The date Magistrate Hudson signed these two warrants was listed as December 18, 2007, but that was not changed on these two warrants unlike I-474445. See, Warrants No. I-474444 and I-474443. None of the changes on these two warrants are initialed or dated. According to the twenty-three (23) warrants for the charges that were dropped, these offenses all occurred between November 21, 2007 and December 14, 2007. App p. 697 - p. 785. Despite the fact that all these offenses took place within the same time period as those for which Respondent went to trial, and those to which he pleaded, it is worthy of note that the State had not obtained true billed indictments on any of charges dismissed in exchange for Respondent's guilty pleas. Respondent has alleged, and Plea Counsel did not dispute, that he was not made aware of this fact prior to his guilty pleas. **App. p. 835, lines 4 – 11.**

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